NOTICE WARNING CONCERNING COPYRIGHT RESTRICTIONS:

The copyright law of the United States (title 17, U.S. Code) governs the making of photocopies or other reproductions of copyrighted material. Any copying of this document without permission of its author may be prohibited by law.

NAMT 94.013

The Nature of Configurational Forces

Morton E. Gurtin Carnegie Mellon University

Research Report No. 94-NA-013

May 1994

Sponsors

U.S. Army Research Office Research Triangle Park NC 27709

National Science Foundation 1800 G Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20550 University Libraries Carnegie Mellon University Pittsburgh PA 15213-3890

NAMT 94.013

•

į

THE NATURE OF CONFIGURATIONAL FORCES

Morton E. Gurtin Department of Mathematics Carnegie Mellon University Pittsburgh, PA 15213

ABSTRACT

ź

The standard forces associated with continua arise as a response to the motion of material points. That additional configurational forces may be needed to describe internal structure is clear from Eshelby's work on lattice defects. Eshelby's studies are statical, based on variational arguments. I take a different point of view. I believe that configurational forces should be viewed as basic objects consistent with their own force balance, rather than as variational constructs. My objective here is to demonstrate the power of configurational force balances in the study of dynamical phase transitions. In standard theories of Stefan-type solidification, curvature flows, and solid-solid phase transitions an extra interface condition—over and above those that follow from standard balance laws—is needed. What I believe to be a compelling argument in support of configurational forces is the conceptual unification that results: each of these "extra" conditions is a consequence of the configurational balance applied across the interface. Configurational forces also lead to new results for existing theories (e.g., a weak formulation of the supercooled Stefan problem) and seem a valuable component in the formulation of new theories.

University Libraries Carnegic Mellon University Pittsburgh PA 15213-3890

CONTENTS

1. Introduction

- 2. Variational definition of configurational forces
- 3. Basic ideas. Configurational forces in a single-phase material
 - a. Referential control volumes that evolve with time
 - b. Classical deformational forces. Mechanical version of the second law
 - c. Configurational stress. A version of the second law that accounts for accretion
 - d. Bulk tension. Derivation of the Eshelby relation
 - e. The configurational force balance
- 4. Configurational forces for an evolving interface, neglecting bulk behavior
 - a. Configurational force balance. Working
 - b. The second law neglecting variations in temperature and composition
 - c. Constitutive equations
 - d. Evolution of the interface
- 5. Two-phase theory with deformation
 - a. Theory neglecting interfacial energy
 - b. Theory with interfacial energy and stress

6. Solidification. The Stefan and Gibbs-Thompson conditions as consequences of the configurational force balance

- a. Single-phase theory
- b. The classical two-phase theory revisited. The Stefan condition as a consequence of the configurational force balance
- c. Weak form of the two-phase problem using the configurational balance
- d. The two-phase theory with surface structure. The Gibbs-Thompson condition as a consequence of the configurational balance

Appendix on evolving surfaces

- a. Surfaces
- b. Smoothly evolving surfaces
- c. Functions of orientation

References

1. INTRODUCTION

The standard forces associated with continua arise as a response to the motion of material points. That additional, $configurational^1$ forces may be needed to describe the internal structure of the material is clear from Eshelby's work on lattice defects² and is at least intimated by Gibbs³ in his discussion of multiphase equilibria. These studies are statical, based on variational arguments, with the configurational forces *defined* as derivatives of the energy. I take a different point of view. Although variational derivations may point the way toward a correct statement of basic laws, such derivations obscure the fundamental nature of balance laws in any general framework that includes dissipation. While I am not in favor of the capricious introduction of "fundamental physical laws", I do believe that configurational forces should be viewed as basic primitive objects consistent with their own force balance, rather than as variational constructs.⁴

My objective here is to demonstrate the role of configurational force-balances in the study of dynamical phase transitions. In the standard theories of

(i) Stefan-type solidification,

(ii) interface motion neglecting bulk behavior,

(iii) solid-solid phase transitions

an *extra* interface condition—over and above those that follow from standard balance laws—is needed:

• for (i), the extra condition is the classical Stefan condition, temperature equals

¹I use the adjective "configurational" to differentiate these forces the standard forces, which I refer to as "deformational". In the past I used the term "accretive" rather than "configurational", but I now use "accretive" to describe the addition or removal of material. ²Cf. [1951,1970]. Eshelby [1951] remarks that the idea of a force on a lattice defect goes back to "an interesting paper" of Burton [1892].

³Gibbs's discussion [1878, pp. 314-331] is paraphrased by Cahn [1980] as follows: "solid surfaces can have their physical area changed in two ways, either by creating or destroying surface without changing surface structure and properties per unit area, or by an elastic strain along the surface keeping the number of surface lattice sites constant" The creation of surface involves configurational forces, while stretching the surface involves more standard deformational forces.

See also Nozieres [1989, p. 26], who uses the term "chemical" rather than "configurational", and writes: "Such a concept of 'chemical stresses', although somewhat misleading, is often useful in assessing equilibrium shapes."

⁴ It is difficult to imagine distinct force systems acting concurrently at each point of a body, which is perhaps why configurational forces have never been more than just variational constructs. Here I am reminded of opposition to the use of standard forces more than half a century after the publication of Newton's *Principia*: as Truesdell [1966] writes, "D'Alembert spoke of Newtonian forces as 'obscure and metaphysical beings, capable of nothing but spreading darkness over a science clear by itself.' "

melting temperature, or a more general relation between temperature, curvature, and normal velocity;

- for (ii), the condition is the motion-by-curvature equation of Burke and Turnbull [1952] and Mullins [1956], or a more general relation of that type;
- for (iii), (in the absence of interfacial stress) the condition is a kinetic relation of the type proposed by Truskinovsky [1987,1991] and Abeyaratne and Knowles [1990,1991].

There are, I believe, three compelling argument in support of configurational forces:

- (i) Configurational forces provide a conceptual unification, as each of these extra conditions is a consequence of the configurational force-balance applied across the interface.
- (ii) Configurational forces lead to new results, an example being a weak formulation of the supercooled Stefan problem.
- (iii) Configurational forces provide a valuable tool in the framing of new theories.⁵

The general configurational force-balance upon which I base the theory is⁶

$$\int \mathbf{Cm} \, d\mathbf{a} + \int \mathbf{f} \, d\mathbf{a} + \int \mathbf{C} \, \mathbf{V} \, d\mathbf{s} + \int \mathbf{B} \, d\mathbf{a} = \mathbf{0}, \qquad (1.1)$$

$$\partial \mathbf{R} \qquad \mathbf{R} \qquad \partial \mathbf{G} \qquad \mathbf{G}$$

with R a control volume that intersects the phase interface, m the outward unit normal to ∂R , G the portion of the interface in R, and V the outward unit normal to the boundary curve ∂G (Figure 1). The configurational fields appearing in (1.1) have the following interpretation: C is a bulk stress that acts in response to the exchange of material at the boundary of R; C, a generalization of surface tension, is a stress within the interface that acts in response to increases in interfacial area as well as to changes in the orientation of the interface; and f, respectively, represent internal forces distributed over the interface and over the bulk volume. In the theories discussed here f is generally unimportant, but is essential, as it represents dissipative forces associated with the kinetics of the interface.

Configurational forces are irrelevant when discussing defect-free single-phase materials, but their inclusion gives insight into the relation between C, the bulk

⁵Cf. Cermelli and Gurtin [1994].

⁶Gurtin [1994a, eqt. (4.3)]. A less specific version appears in Gurtin [1988, eqt. (3.2)] and Gurtin and Struthers [1990, eqt. (7.9)], where the balance is applied directly to the interface with the effects of **C** and **S** combined.

Sun, Apr 24, 1994

free energy Ψ , the standard bulk deformational-stress S, and the deformation gradient F. Here, to capture the mechanics associated with the addition and deletion of material points at the boundary of a portion of the body, *I use referential control volumes* R=R(t) *that evolve with time*. Their use, which requires generalizations of the basic physical laws, leads to an important expression, C= Ψ 1-F^TS, discovered by Eshelby [1951,1970]. My derivation of the Eshelby relation is accomplished without recourse to constitutive equations or to a variational principle; the derivation is based on a version of the second law appropriate to a mechanical theory in conjunction with a requirement that this law be invariant under changes in the time-dependent parametrization of $\partial R(t)$.

Notation. I use notation standard in continuum mechanics (cf. Gurtin [1981]). The body B is identified with the region of \mathbb{R}^3 it occupies in a fixed reference configuration; terms such as "referential volume" and "undeformed volume" are used interchangeably; X designates an arbitrary material point (point of B); fields Φ are described materially (as functions of (X,t)); Φ ^{*} denotes the material time-derivative of Φ (with respect to t holding X fixed), ∇ and div denote the material gradient and divergence (with respect to X holding t fixed). 2. VARIATIONAL DEFINITION OF CONFIGURATIONAL FORCES

To better understand the nature of configurational forces, I begin with a standard variational derivation for a coherent two-phase elastic solid, neglecting thermal and compositional variations as well as interfacial energy. I consider a body B whose phases α and β occupy closed complementary subregions B_{α} and B_{β} of B, with the interface $\&=B_{\alpha} \cap B_{\beta}$ a smooth, oriented surface whose continuous unit normal field n points outward from B_{α} (Figure 2). A deformation y of B is then a continuous function that assigns to each material point X in B a point $\mathbf{x}=\mathbf{y}(\mathbf{X})$ of space, has deformation gradient

$$\mathbf{F} = \nabla \mathbf{y} \tag{2.1}$$

continuous up to the interface from either side, and has det F>0.

I restrict attention to deformations y that obey a given boundary condition on ∂B . Then, for equilibrium, the position of the interface and the deformation minimize the total energy

$$E(\mathcal{X}, \mathbf{y}) = \int \Psi d\mathbf{v} + \int \Psi d\mathbf{v}, \\ B_{\alpha} \qquad B_{\beta}$$
(2.2)

where the bulk energy $\Psi(\mathbf{X})$, per unit volume, is given by constitutive equations

$$\Psi(\mathbf{X}) = \Psi_{\alpha}(\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{X})) \quad \text{in } \mathbf{B}_{\alpha}, \qquad \Psi(\mathbf{X}) = \Psi_{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{X})) \quad \text{in } \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{g}}. \tag{2.3}$$

To formally compute the first variation $\delta E(\delta, \mathbf{y})$, which must vanish, the compatibility condition and the identity

$$[\delta \mathbf{y}] = -(\delta \mathcal{S})[\mathbf{F}]\mathbf{n}, \qquad [fg] = \langle f \rangle [g] + \langle g \rangle [f] \qquad (2.4)$$

are useful. Here δy (with $\delta y=0$ on ∂B) is the variation of y; $\delta \delta$, a scalar field, is the normal variation of δ ; [f] denotes the jump in a field f across the interface (limit from β minus that from α); and $\langle f \rangle$ denotes the average of the interfacial limits of f. (Less formally, considering time-dependent departures ($\delta(t), y(t)$) from (δ, y), the variations $\delta E(\delta, y)$, δy , and $\delta \delta$ may be identified with $E(\delta, y)$, y, and the normal velocity V of $\delta(t)$.) The requirement $\delta E(\delta, y)=0$, (2.4), and the divergence theorem yield the expression

$$\int \operatorname{div} \mathbf{S}_{\alpha} \cdot \delta \mathbf{y} \, \mathrm{dv} + \int \operatorname{div} \mathbf{S}_{\beta} \cdot \delta \mathbf{y} \, \mathrm{dv} + \int \{ [\mathbf{S}] \mathbf{n} \cdot \langle \delta \mathbf{y} \rangle + ([\Psi] - \langle \mathbf{S} \mathbf{n} \rangle \cdot [\mathbf{F} \mathbf{n}]) \, \delta \mathcal{S} \} \, \mathrm{da} = 0, \quad (2.5)$$

$$\mathbf{B}_{\alpha} \qquad \mathbf{B}_{\beta} \qquad \mathcal{S}$$

where S(X) is the bulk stress, here defined as the derivative of the energy:

$$S = \partial_F \Psi_{\alpha}(F)$$
 in B_{α} , $S = \partial_F \Psi_{\beta}(F)$ in B_{β} . (2.6)

Since δy can be specified arbitrarily away from &, and since $\langle \delta y \rangle$ and $\delta \&$ can be specified arbitrarily on &, (2.5) yields the standard equilibrium equations

$$div S = 0 \quad in \ bulk \tag{2.7}$$

(that is, in $B^{}_{\alpha}$ and in $B^{}_{\text{B}}$), the standard force balance

$$[S]n = 0 \quad \text{on the interface,} \tag{2.8}$$

and an additional condition⁷

$$[\Psi] = [Fn \cdot Sn] \quad \text{on the interface,} \tag{2.9}$$

often referred to as the Maxwell relation.

Since (2.9) cannot be derived from balance of forces alone, this leads to the question of whether the Maxwell relation represents an additional "force balance". In fact it does. To see this, consider the "stress tensor"

$$\mathbf{C} = \mathbf{\Psi}\mathbf{1} - \mathbf{F}^{\mathsf{T}}\mathbf{S} \tag{2.10}$$

introduced by Eshelby in his discussion of defects.⁸ In terms of the Eshelby tensor, the Maxwell relation has the simple form $n \cdot [C]n = 0$. Further, the continuity of y across the interface implies that [F]t=0 for any vector t tangent to the interface, so that (2.8) yields $t \cdot [C]n = 0$. Thus

 $[C]n = 0 \quad \text{on the interface,} \tag{2.11}^9$

implying continuity of the Eshelby traction across the interface. Further, a computation based on (2.6) and (2.7) yields the conclusion¹⁰

⁷Cf. Eshelby [1970], Robin [1974], Larché and Cahn [1978], Grinfeld [1981], James [1981], Gurtin [1983].

⁸Grinfeld [1981] refers to C/ρ as a chemical-potential tensor.

⁹Cf. Kaganova and Roitburd [1988].

 $^{1^{0}}$ div C = 0 \Leftrightarrow div S = 0 in bulk, an equivalence not generally carried over to the interface conditions (2.8) and (2.11).

$$div C = 0 \quad in \ bulk, \tag{2.12}$$

6

so that the force system corresponding to the Eshelby tensor satisfies a balance law; in fact, (2.11) and (2.12) together imply the more standard integral balance

$$\int \mathbf{Cm} \, \mathrm{da} = \mathbf{0} \tag{2.13}$$

$$\partial \mathbf{R}$$

for every subregion R of B, where \mathbf{m} is the outward unit normal to ∂R .

I henceforth use the term *deformational balance* for balances such as (2.7) and (2.8) involving the standard (Piola-Kirchhoff) stress **S**, as opposed to the term *configurational balance*, which I reserve for balances of the form (2.13) involving the Eshelby tensor **C**.

This analysis leads to the questions:

- Is there a formulation in which **C** is a primitive quantity, consistent with a force balance of the type (2.13), and in which the Eshelby relation (2.10) follows as a natural consequence?
- Aside from a possible better understanding of the underlying physics, does the introduction of configurational forces lead to new results?

In what follows I will attempt to answer these questions.

3. BASIC IDEAS. CONFIGURATIONAL FORCES IN A SINGLE-PHASE MATERIAL¹¹

Configurational forces are irrelevant to the theory of single-phase continua without defects, but their study within that context provides essential information regarding their nature.

a. Referential control volumes that evolve with time

Let B be a single-phase body, and let y be a motion of B, so that y(X,t) is a deformation for each fixed t, with deformation gradient F(X,t) and material velocity $y^{*}(X,t)$ smooth functions.

As is standard, I formulate balance laws using referential control volumes (subregions of B). But as is not standard, I capture the mechanics associated with the addition and deletion of material points at the boundary of a portion of the body using referential control volumes that evolve with time. Given such a control volume R(t), I write V(X,t) for the normal velocity of $\partial R(t)$ in the direction of the outward unit normal m(X,t). Then for $\Phi(X,t)$ a smooth field,

where

The evolving surface $\partial R(t)$ may be parametrized in a sufficiently small timeinterval and in a neighborhood of any of its points by a function of the form $X = \hat{X}(u_1, u_2, t)$; the field

$$v(\mathbf{X},t) = \partial \mathbf{\hat{X}}(u_1,u_2,t)/\partial t$$
(3.3)

then represents a velocity field for $\partial R(t)$ in that neighborhood. It is possible to use such parametrizations to construct a velocity field v for ∂R ; that is, a smooth field v(X,t) defined for all X on $\partial R(t)$ and all t in any (sufficiently small) timeinterval. A field v so constructed depends on the choice of local parametrizations, but its normal component is intrinsic:

$$\mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{m} = \mathcal{V}. \tag{3.4}$$

Under the motion \mathbf{y} , R(t) will deform to a region $\mathcal{R}(t)=\mathbf{y}(R(t),t)$, and each local $\frac{11_{\text{Gurtin}}}{11_{\text{Gurtin}}}$

parametrization $\mathbf{X} = \hat{\mathbf{X}}(u_1, u_2, t)$ will induce a corresponding local parametrization $\mathbf{x} = \hat{\mathbf{x}}(u_1, u_2, t) = \mathbf{y}(\hat{\mathbf{X}}(u_1, u_2, t), t)$ for $\partial \mathbb{R}(t)$; the corresponding velocity field

 $\overline{\mathbf{v}}(\mathbf{X},t) = \partial \hat{\mathbf{x}}(\mathbf{u}_1,\mathbf{u}_2,t)/\partial t$ (3.5)

for $\partial \mathbb{R}(t)$ is related to \mathbf{v} through the relation

$$\overline{\mathbf{v}} = \mathbf{y}^* + \mathbf{F}\mathbf{v}; \tag{3.6}$$

 $\overline{\upsilon}$ will be referred to as the velocity field for $\partial \mathbb{R}$ induced by υ (Figure 3).

b. Classical deformational forces. Mechanical version of the second law

Let **S** denote the standard stress that arises in response to deformation, with **S** measured per unit referential area, and let ρ denote the reference density. Then, representing inertia through the body force

$$\mathbf{b} = -\rho \mathbf{y}^{*}, \tag{3.7}$$

but neglecting other external forces, the standard balance laws for forces and moments take the form

$$\int \mathbf{Sm} \, d\mathbf{a} + \int \mathbf{b} \, d\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{0}, \qquad \int \mathbf{y} \times \mathbf{Sm} \, d\mathbf{a} + \int \mathbf{y} \times \mathbf{b} \, d\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{0}$$
(3.8)

$$\partial \mathbf{R} \qquad \mathbf{R} \qquad \partial \mathbf{R} \qquad \mathbf{R}$$

for each referential control volume R, with m the outward unit normal to ∂R . Since R is arbitrary, a standard argument¹² yields the local relations

$$\operatorname{div} \mathbf{S} + \mathbf{b} = \mathbf{0}, \qquad \mathbf{S}\mathbf{F}^{\mathsf{T}} = \mathbf{F}\mathbf{S}^{\mathsf{T}}. \tag{3.9}$$

In the absence of thermal and compositional effects the classical theory may be based on a "second law" that utilizes time-independent control volumes R and has the form¹³

with Ψ the free energy, per unit referential volume. For an evolving control $\frac{12}{Cf. e.g., Gurtin}$ [1981, p. 179].

^{13(3.10) (}with Ψ the free energy) follows from standard statements of the first two laws (cf. Gurtin [1991]).

volume R(t) the standard generalization of (3.10) would include the term

energy flow =
$$\int \Psi \mathcal{V} da$$
 (3.11)
 ∂R

on the right side. My discussion of configurational forces will be based on what I believe to be a more fundamental version of the second law.

c. Configurational stress. A version of the second law that accounts for accretion

I consider the dependence of R(t) on t as representing the addition of material to—or the removal of material from—the boundary $\partial R(t)$. A standard precept of continuum mechanics is that when writing basic laws for R(t) the material outside of R(t) may be accounted for by the action of forces on $\partial R(t)$. I believe that—consistent with this—an accounting of the work required to add or remove material precludes an (explicit) accounting of the flow of energy into R(t). In this spirit I base the mechanical theory on a "second law" of the form

(d/dt) {energy of R(t)} \leq {rate at which work is performed on R(t)}. (3.12)

The view expressed above requires a careful treatment of the kinematics and mechanics of *accretion*, the term I use to describe the addition and removal of material. Kinematically, accretion is independent of the motion \mathbf{y} , and since independent kinematical processes generally give rise to independent force systems, it seems reasonable to introduce additional forces that perform work during accretion. I therefore consider a tensor field C, the *configurational stress*, whose working accompanies the evolution of ∂R . More precisely, I choose local parametrizations $\mathbf{X} = \hat{\mathbf{X}}(u_1, u_2, t)$ for $\partial R(t)$, define a velocity field v for ∂R through (3.3), and assume that $\mathbf{Cm} \cdot v$ represents the corresponding working, per unit area.

The working of the deformational stress S must also be taken into account. The motion of the deformed boundary $\partial \mathbb{R}(t) = \mathbf{y}(\partial \mathbb{R}(t), t)$ is—for R independent of time—described by the material velocity \mathbf{y}^* , and $\mathbf{Sm} \cdot \mathbf{y}^*$ gives the required working. But when $\mathbb{R}(t)$ depends on t there is no intrinsic material description of $\partial \mathbb{R}(t)$, as material is continually being added and removed, and it would seem appropriate to use, as a velocity for $\partial \mathbb{R}(t)$, the derivative $\overline{\mathbf{v}}(\mathbf{X},t)$ of $\mathbf{y}(\mathbf{\hat{X}}(u_1,u_2,t),t)$ with respect to t holding the surface parameters (u_1,u_2) fixed; for that reason I write the working of S in the form $\mathbf{Sm} \cdot \overline{\mathbf{v}}$.

I therefore take as an appropriate form of the second law the inequality

9

with v a velocity field for $\partial R = \partial R(t)$ and \overline{v} the corresponding induced velocity field for ∂R . (Note that the deformational working $\mathbf{Sm} \cdot \overline{v}$ is a classical term $\mathbf{Sm} \cdot \mathbf{y}^*$ plus a term $\mathbf{Sm} \cdot \mathbf{Fv}$ that accounts for the addition of strained material to ∂R .) To ensure that the resulting theory be independent of local parametrizations, I require that (3.13) hold for any choice of the velocity field v for ∂R . This requirement of *invariance under reparametrization* has important consequences.

d. Bulk tension. Derivation of the Eshelby relation

Invariance of (3.13) under reparametrization is equivalent to invariance of the *working*

$$\mathfrak{W}(\mathbf{R}) = \int (\mathbf{Sm} \cdot \overline{\boldsymbol{\upsilon}} + \mathbf{Cm} \cdot \boldsymbol{\upsilon}) d\mathbf{a} + \int \mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{y}^* d\mathbf{v} \qquad (3.14)$$

$$\partial \mathbf{R} \qquad \mathbf{R}$$

$$= \int \{\mathbf{Sm} \cdot \mathbf{y}^{*} + (\mathbf{F}^{\mathsf{T}} \mathbf{Sm} + \mathbf{Cm}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\upsilon} \} d\mathbf{a} + \int \mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{y}^{*} d\boldsymbol{\upsilon}.$$
(3.15)
 $\partial \mathbf{R}$ R

Because of (3.4), changes in parametrization affect the tangential component of v, but leave the normal component unaltered. In fact, invariance of (3.15) under reparametrization is equivalent to the requirement that $(F^{T}Sm + Cm) \cdot t = 0$ on ∂R for all tangential vector fields t on ∂R ; thus, since R is arbitrary, $(F^{T}S + C)m$ must be parallel to m for all m, so that

$$\mathbf{C} + \mathbf{F}^{\mathsf{T}} \mathbf{S} = \pi \mathbf{1} \tag{3.16}$$

and, by (3.4), the working has the intrinsic form

$$\mathfrak{W}(\mathbf{R}) = \int \mathbf{Sm} \cdot \mathbf{y}^* d\mathbf{a} + \int \mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{y}^* d\mathbf{v} + \int \pi \mathcal{V} d\mathbf{a}. \qquad (3.17)$$

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{R}}{\partial \mathbf{R}} = \mathbf{R} \qquad \partial \mathbf{R}$$

The scalar field π is a *bulk tension* that works to increase the volume of R through the addition of material at its boundary. Referring to the final term in (3.17) as the *configurational working*, (3.17) may be written more suggestively as

Sat, Apr 23, 1994

Note that the configurational working πV is not due solely to the action of the configurational stress C; the deformational stress contributes also through the term $(\mathbf{Sm}\cdot\mathbf{Fm})V$.

My next step is to relate π to the free energy Ψ . Using (3.1) and (3.17), the inequality (3.13) may be rewritten as

$$\int \Psi' dv \leq \int \{ \mathbf{Sm} \cdot \mathbf{y}' + (\pi - \Psi) \mathcal{V} \} da + \int \mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{y}' dv.$$

$$R \qquad \partial R \qquad R \qquad (3.19)$$

Given a time τ , it is possible to find a second referential control volume R'(t) with R'(τ)=R(τ), but with V'(X, τ), the normal velocity of ∂ R'(τ), an *arbitrary* scalar field on ∂ R'(τ); satisfaction of (3.19) for all such V' implies

 $\pi = \Psi. \tag{3.20}$

Bulk tension therefore coincides with bulk free-energy, a result analogous to the coincidence of surface tension and surface free-energy; but what is more important, (3.16) and (3.20) yield the Eshelby relation

$$\mathbf{C} = \Psi \mathbf{1} - \mathbf{F}^{\mathsf{T}} \mathbf{S}. \tag{3.21}$$

This derivation of the Eshelby relation was accomplished without recourse to constitutive equations or to a variational principle; the derivation was based on a version of the second law appropriate to referential control volumes whose boundaries evolve with time.

The result (3.16) is a consequence of the invariance of W(R) under reparametrization; it is independent of the particular form chosen for the second law and is hence more basic than (3.21). In fact, the identification of π with a "grand canonical potential" such as the free energy depends on whether or not there are associated transport processes; (3.16) is independent of such considerations.

Finally, in the notation of (3.11) and (3.18),

at least in this purely mechanical context, establishing consistency of the "second law" (3.13) with the more standard inequality (3.10) modified by (3.11).

e. The configurational force balance

In addition to the configurational stress C, I allow for internal configurational

(body) forces f, which, being internal, contribute neither to the working (3.14) nor to the "second law" (3.13). As a second point of departure from the classical theory, I postulate a *configurational force balance*

$$\int \mathbf{Cm} \, d\mathbf{a} + \int \mathbf{f} \, d\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{0}$$
(3.23)
 $\partial \mathbf{R} \qquad \mathbf{R}$

for each R, or equivalently,

$$div C + f = 0.$$
 (3.24)

C performs work when material is added to R through the motion of ∂R . Material is neither added nor removed from the interior of R. In fact, each material point X is constrained to a given position in the reference configuration for all time. Consequently, the force f, which acts interior to R, performs no work (an observation consistent with its omision from (3.14)). I therefore consider f to be indeterminate,¹⁴ in fact, as defined by the configurational balance (3.24).

Assume, for the moment, that the material is *elastic* and *homogeneous* with constitutive equations giving the stress **S** as the derivative of the free energy Ψ :

$$\Psi = \widehat{\Psi}(\mathbf{F}), \qquad \mathbf{S} = \partial_{\mathbf{F}} \widehat{\Psi}(\mathbf{F}). \tag{3.25}$$

Then (3.21) yields an auxialiary relation giving C as a function of F, and (3.9), (3.21), (3.24), and (3.25) yield $f=F^{T}b$. If b=0 (equilibrium), then the internal configurational force vanishes. This is a direct consequence of *homogeniety*; for an *inhomogeneous* material with energy $\hat{\Psi}(\mathbf{F},\mathbf{X})$ and stress $\mathbf{S}=\partial_{\mathbf{F}}\hat{\Psi}(\mathbf{F},\mathbf{X})$,

 $\mathbf{f} = -\partial_{\mathbf{X}} \hat{\Psi} \tag{3.26}$

and internal configurational forces are present (even though b=0). A one-dimensional cartoon giving an intuitive description of the configurational force system for homogeneous and inhomogeneous reference configurations is given in Figure 4.

Thus for a single-phase elastic material the theory is equivalent to the classical theory based on (3.9) with (3.24) and (3.21) considered as defining relations for f and C; configurational forces play no role. On the other hand, for a two-phase system configurational forces play a pivotal role in the evolution of the interface, since it is there that the material structure undergoes change.

In subsequent sections I will demonstrate the role played by configurational $\frac{14}{14}$ That is, not specified constitutively (cf. Truesdell and Noll [1965, p. 70]).

Sat, Apr 23, 1994

forces in the study of evolving phase interfaces. But this does not seem the only circumstance in which this concept could be useful: configurational forces might form a basis for the systematic study of time-dependent defect structures such as dislocations and cracks.¹⁵

¹⁵An idea due to Paolo Podio-Guidugli (private communication).

4. CONFIGURATIONAL FORCES FOR AN EVOLVING INTERFACE, NEGLECTING BULK BEHAVIOR

There are situations of physical interest in which the motion of a phase interface is effectively independent of deformational and transport processes in the bulk material;¹⁶ granted this, the underlying balance law is a configurational balance for the interface itself. I now turn toward a characterization of such behavior.

a. Configurational force balance. Working

I consider two phases separated by a smoothly evolving surface &(t). I assume that & is oriented by a choice of unit normal field **n** and write V for the normal velocity, **L** for the curvature tensor, K for the total curvature (twice the mean curvature), and $\nabla_{\&}$ and div $_{\&}$ for the surface gradient and surface divergence. (Cf. the Appendix for a discussion of evolving surfaces.)

I restrict attention to a configurational force system described by the fields:

С	bulk stress
C	surface stress
f	internal bulk force
8	internal surface force

C and **f** are as discussed in Section 3. The superficial vector field **g** represents internal forces distributed over the interface, while **C**, a superficial tensor field on &, generalizes surface tension. Given a referential control volume R(t), let

 $G(t) = \&(t) \cap R(t)$

denote the portion of the interface in R(t) with $\Psi(X,t)$ (a tangential field on $\mathcal{S}(t)$) the outward unit normal to $\partial G(t)$ (Figure 1); then $\mathbb{C}\Psi$ represents configurational forces within the interface applied to R across ∂G .

The configurational force balance now takes the form

$$\int \mathbf{Cm} \, d\mathbf{a} + \int \mathbf{f} \, d\mathbf{a} + \int \mathbf{C} \, \mathbf{V} \, d\mathbf{s} + \int \mathbf{S} \, d\mathbf{a} = \mathbf{0}, \qquad (4.1)$$

$$\partial \mathbf{R} \qquad \mathbf{R} \qquad \partial \mathbf{G} \qquad \mathbf{G}$$

with R(t) a control volume and m the outward unit normal to ∂R . Shrinking R to the interface,

¹⁶Cf. the Introduction of Taylor, Cahn, and Handwerker [1992].

$$\int ([C]n + \mathbf{S}) d\mathbf{a} + \int \mathbf{C} \mathbf{V} d\mathbf{s} = \mathbf{0},$$

Q $\partial \mathbf{Q}$

which, by virtue of the surface divergence theorem (A9), yields the *interfacial* force balance

$$[C]n + e + div_{s}C = 0. (4.2)$$

On the other hand, restricting attention to R in (4.1) that do not intersect the interface yields the bulk relation (3.24).

The motion of the curve $\partial G(t)$ is characterized intrinsically by the velocity field $\nabla n + \nabla_{\partial G} \Psi$, where $\nabla_{\partial G}$, the tangential edge velocity of G, is the velocity of ∂G in the direction of the normal Ψ . Alternatively, $\partial G(t)$ may be parametrized locally by functions X=r(u,t), which may be used to generate a velocity field

$$\mathbf{w}(\mathbf{X},t) = \partial \mathbf{r}(\mathbf{u},t) / \partial t \tag{4.3}$$

for $\partial G(t)$. Then

$$\mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{n} = \mathbf{V}, \qquad \mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{V} = \mathbf{V}_{\partial \Omega}, \tag{4.4}$$

but the component of w tangent to $\partial \Omega$ depends on the choice of local parametrizations.

Guided by the discussion leading to (3.14), I define the working $\mathcal{W}(R)$ by

$$\mathfrak{W}(\mathbf{R}) = \int \mathbf{C} \mathbf{m} \cdot \mathbf{v} \, d\mathbf{a} + \int \mathbf{C} \mathbf{V} \cdot \mathbf{w} \, d\mathbf{s}, \qquad (4.5)$$

$$\partial \mathbf{R} \qquad \partial \mathbf{G}$$

with the stipulation that W(R) be independent of the particular local parametrizations $X = \hat{X}(u_1, u_2, t)$ and X = r(u, t) used to determine the velocity fields v(X, t) and w(X, t) for $\partial R(t)$ and $\partial G(t)$. The argument leading to (3.16) then reduces C to a bulk tension:

$$\mathbf{C} = \mathbf{\pi 1}.\tag{4.6}$$

Invariance under changes in parametrization for $\partial G(t)$ has an equally stringent consequence. Because of (4.4), such changes effect the component of **w** tangential to ∂G , but leave **w** otherwise unaltered. In fact, invariance of W(R)under changes in parametrization for ∂G is equivalent to the requirement that

$$\int \mathbf{C} \mathbf{\mathcal{V}} \cdot \mathbf{t} \, \mathrm{ds} = 0 \tag{4.7}$$

for every vector field \mathbf{t} tangential to ∂G . Bearing in mind that R and hence ∂G is arbitrary, it follows¹⁷ that the tangential part of \mathbf{C} is a surface tension:

$$\mathbf{C}_{tan} = \sigma \mathbf{P} \tag{4.8}$$

(cf. (A3)) with σ the surface tension. Thus, by (A4),

$$\mathbf{C} = \sigma \mathbf{P} + \mathbf{n} \otimes \mathbf{C}, \tag{4.9}$$

where **C**, the surface shear, is a tangential vector field that represents forces within & that act normal to &.¹⁸

A computation, based on (A1), (A7), (A8), and (4.9), yields

$$\operatorname{div}_{\mathscr{S}} \mathbf{C} = (\sigma \mathbf{K} + \operatorname{div}_{\mathscr{S}} \mathbf{C})\mathbf{n} + \nabla_{\mathscr{S}} \sigma - \mathbf{L}\mathbf{C}, \qquad (4.10)$$

and since $\nabla_{\delta}\sigma$ and **LC** are tangential, (4.2) and (4.6) yield the normal force balance

$$\sigma K + div_{s} C + [\pi] + e = 0$$
(4.11)

with

the normal internal force.

Next, by (3.4), (4.4), (4.5), (4.6), and (4.9),

$$\mathfrak{W}(\mathbf{R}) = \int (\sigma \nabla_{\partial \Omega} + \nabla \mathbf{c} \cdot \mathbf{V}) \, d\mathbf{s} + \int \pi \mathcal{V} \, d\mathbf{a},$$

$$\partial \Omega \qquad \partial \mathbf{R}$$

$$(4.13)$$

and hence (A9), (A10), and (4.11) yield¹⁹

¹⁷Gurtin and Struthers [1990, eqt. (7.4)].

¹⁸Gurtin and Struthers [1990, eqt. (7.5)] (cf. Gurtin [1988]). For statics an essentially equivalent relation was derived by Herring [1951], Hoffman and Cahn 1972], and Cahn and Hoffman [1974] using variational arguments based on a constitutive equation $\psi = \hat{\psi}(\mathbf{n})$ for the interfacial energy, with σ and $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}$ defined by (4.19) and (4.22). The derivation given above is independent of constitutive equations.

¹⁹Gurtin [1988], Gurtin and Struthers [1990].

$$\mathfrak{W}(\mathbf{R}) = -\int \{\sigma \mathbf{K} \mathbf{V} + \mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{n}^\circ + ([\pi] + \mathbf{e}) \mathbf{V} \} d\mathbf{s} + \int \sigma \mathbf{V}_{\partial \mathbf{R}} d\mathbf{s} + \int \pi \mathcal{V} d\mathbf{a}, \qquad (4.14)$$

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{Q}}{\partial \mathbf{R}} = \partial \mathbf{R}$$

where (...)° denotes the time derivative following the normal trajectories of the interface. The right side of this relation catalogs the manner in which configurational forces perform work (Figure 5):

- the surface tension σ works to increase the area of G: at internal points through $-\sigma KV$, at its boundary through σV_{aG} ;
- the surface shear ${f G}$ works to change the orientation of ${f G};$
- the jump $[\pi]$ in bulk tension and the normal internal force e work to advance the interface;
- the bulk tension works over ∂R to increase the volume of R.

Note that there is no expenditure of work associated with "tangential motion" of the interface (cf. the paragraph following (3.24)). Consistent with a "constraint" of this type, I leave as *indeterminate* the tangential component **Ps** of the internal force, an assumption that allows me to restrict attention to the normal balance (4.11).

b. The second law neglecting variations in temperature and composition

As before, I allow for a *bulk free-energy* Ψ , but, in accord with the physical assumptions underlying the current development, I assume that Ψ is *constant* in each phase and write

$$U = [\Psi] (= constant). \tag{4.15}$$

In addition, I now allow for an *interfacial free-energy* $\psi(X,t)$, per unit area, and write the second law in the form (3.12):

for every evolving control volume R(t), with $Q(t)=\delta(t)\cap R(t)$.

The argument leading to (3.20) is valid here also. Further, by (4.15),

so that, by (3.20), (4.14), and (A13), (4.16) becomes

$$\int (\psi^{\circ} - \psi KV) d\mathbf{a} + \int \psi V_{\partial \Omega} d\mathbf{s} \leq - \int \{\sigma KV + \mathbf{c} \cdot \mathbf{n}^{\circ} + Ve\} d\mathbf{s} + \int \sigma V_{\partial \Omega} d\mathbf{s}.$$

$$\partial \Omega \qquad \partial \Omega$$

$$(4.18)$$

Given a time τ , it is possible to find a second referential control volume R'(t) with $R'(\tau)=R(\tau)$, but with $V_{\partial G'}(\mathbf{X},\tau)$, the normal velocity of $\partial G'(\tau)$, an *arbitrary* scalar field on $\partial G'(\tau)$; satisfaction of (4.18) for all such $V_{\partial G'}$ implies

$$\sigma = \psi \tag{4.19}$$

and the surface tension and surface free-energy coincide.²⁰ Thus, since G is arbitrary, what remains is the *interfacial dissipation inequality*

$$\psi^{\circ} + \mathbf{C} \cdot \mathbf{n}^{\circ} + \mathbf{eV} \le 0. \tag{4.20}$$

At this point it is worth noting the similarities between the bulk tension π and the surface tension σ :

- bulk tension works to increase the volume of bulk material, surface tension works to increase the area of the interface;
- the configurational stresses $C=\pi 1$ and $C_{tan}=\sigma P$ have "isotropic" forms; these are not consequences of material symmetry, but follow instead from invariance under reparametrization;
- both π and σ are related to energy: π to bulk free-energy, σ to interfacial free-energy.

c. Constitutive equations

Guided by the dissipation inequality (4.20), I consider constitutive equations for the interface giving the free energy ψ , the surface shear **C**, and the normal internal force e as functions of the orientation **n** and the normal velocity V:

$$\psi = \hat{\psi}(\mathbf{n}, \mathbf{V}), \qquad \mathbf{C} = \hat{\mathbf{C}}(\mathbf{n}, \mathbf{V}), \qquad e = \hat{e}(\mathbf{n}, \mathbf{V}). \qquad (4.21)$$

I view the second law as a restriction on constitutive relations;²¹ more pre-

²⁰Gurtin and Struthers [1990] (cf. Gurtin [1991]).

²¹This use of the second law is due to Coleman and Noll [1963], who study single-phase thermoelastic materials; the extension to two-phase materials is given by Gurtin [1988] (cf. Angenent and Gurtin [1989], Gurtin [1993a]). An interesting feature of this procedure is that the local dissipation inequality generally suggests which fields should be given constitutive

cisely, granted (4.21), I require that the dissipation inequality (4.20) be satisfied in all motions of the interface:

$$\partial_{\mathbf{V}}\hat{\psi}(\mathbf{n},\mathbf{V})\mathbf{V}^{\circ} + \{\partial_{\mathbf{n}}\hat{\psi}(\mathbf{n},\mathbf{V}) + \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{n},\mathbf{V})\}\cdot\mathbf{n}^{\circ} + \hat{\mathbf{e}}(\mathbf{n},\mathbf{V})\mathbf{V} \leq 0$$

in all such motions. It is possible to construct a motion of the interface for which n, n° , V, and V° have arbitrarily assigned values at some given point and time, an observation that leads to the following constitutive restrictions: the free energy must be independent of the velocity V; the shear must be the negative of the derivative of the energy with respect to n,

 $\mathbf{C} = -\partial_{\mathbf{n}}\hat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}(\mathbf{n}); \tag{4.22}$

the relation $e = \hat{e}(n, V)$ for the normal internal force must have the form

$$e = -b(n,V)V,$$
 $b(n,V) \ge 0,$ (4.23)

with b(n,V) a constitutive quantity called the kinetic modulus.²² These are the most general constitutive equations of the form (4.21) that are consistent with (4.20).

Anisotropy of the interface manifests itself in a nontrivial dependence of $\hat{\psi}(n)$ on n; for an isotropic interface ψ is constant. An interesting consequence of (4.22) is that for an anisotropic interface the surface shear cannot generally vanish. This demonstrates the nonintuitive nature of configurational forces: the interface is presumed to be infinitesimally thin, yet it supports shear; thus the danger inherent in visualizing the interface as a membrane.

The surface shear must be balanced by couples exerted by the bulk material, although such couples, being indeterminate, need not be made explicit.²³ This furnishes an additional argument in support of the separate treatment of configurational forces when discussing deformation. If the variational treatment of Section 2 is generalized to include an anisotropic interfacial energy, then the resulting *bulk* Euler-Lagrange equations remain (2.7). Since these classical equations support neither bulk internal-couples nor bulk couple-stresses, configura-

descriptions, a use of the second law that seems to lead—in all classical continuum theories—to the "correct" set of constitutive variables. This contrasts the standard formalism of studying balance laws to see where a lack of field equations may be compensated for by the introduction of constitutive relations.

²²For b(**n**,V) independent of V, b(**n**)⁻¹ is referred to **a**s the mobility of the interface. ²³Gurtin [1988, Remark 3.2]. tional fields are needed to balance the surface-shear induced couples.

d. Evolution equation for the interface

The evolution equation for the interface follows from the normal forcebalance (4.11), (4.15), the tension-energy relations (3.20) and (4.19), the reduced constitutive relations (4.22) and (4.23), and the identity (A15):

$$b(\mathbf{n}, \mathbf{V})\mathbf{V} = \{\hat{\psi}(\mathbf{n})\mathbf{1} + \partial_{\mathbf{n}}\partial_{\mathbf{n}}\hat{\psi}(\mathbf{n})\}\cdot\mathbf{L} + \mathbf{U}.$$
(4.24)²⁴

For an isotropic material with b independent of V and U=0, (4.24), after a rescaling, reduces to the curve-shortening equation, V=K.²⁵ In (4.24) the derivatives must respect the constraint $|\mathbf{n}|=1$. A simpler form of the equation follows if $\hat{\psi}(\mathbf{n})$ is extended from the unit sphere to \mathbb{R}^3 by defining $\tilde{\psi}(\mathbf{z})=|\mathbf{z}|\hat{\psi}(\mathbf{z}/|\mathbf{z}|)$, for then the term $\{\ldots\}$ reduces to $\{\partial_{\mathbf{z}}\partial_{\mathbf{z}}\tilde{\psi}(\mathbf{z})\}$ at $\mathbf{z}=\mathbf{n}$. Finally, the analogous relation for evolution in \mathbb{R}^2 , with \mathbf{n} replaced by the counterclockwise angle φ from a fixed axis to \mathbf{n} , is²⁶

$$b(\phi, V)V = \{\hat{\psi}(\phi) + \hat{\psi}''(\phi)\}K + U.$$
(4.25)

The expression (4.24) represents the normal part of the configurational force balance (4.2). The indeterminacy of the tangential part of e renders the tangential part of (4.2) unimportant. Interestingly, a computation using $(A15)_1$, (4.6), (4.10), (4.19), and (4.22) shows the tangential balances to be satisfied automatically with **Pe=0**, so that **e=en**.

For nonsmooth interfaces—which are possible when $\tilde{\psi}(\mathbf{z})$ is nonconvex—the evolution equation (4.24) is not, by itself, sufficient to describe the motion of the interface: the weaker form (4.1) must be used, for example across curves defined by a jump in the interface normal $\mathbf{n}^{.27}$

 $^{^{24}}$ Proposed by Uwaha [1987, eqt. (2)] (in \mathbb{R}^2 with b=b(n)) and independently by Gurtin [1988, eqt. (8.3)]. Evolution according to (4.24) with b=b(n) is studied by Angenent [1991], Chen, Giga, and Goto [1991], and Soner [1993]. The special case $V=-b(n)^{-1}U$ was introduced by Frank [1958]. A formulation of (4.24) using a variational definition of the curvature term (Taylor [1992]) is given by Taylor, Cahn, and Handwerker [1992], who give extensive references.

 $^{^{25}}$ Burke and Turnbull [1952] and Mullins [1956] introduced V=K to study the motion of grain boundaries. Evolution according to this equation is discussed by many authors (cf. Gurtin [1993a, Footnote 12]).

²⁶Derived using a thermomechanical argument by Angenent and Gurtin [1989], although the configurational force system is somewhat different (cf. Gurtin [1993a]).

 $^{2^7}$ Cf. Angenent and Gurtin [1989] and Gurtin [1993a] for discussions of this issue in \mathbb{R}^2 .

5. TWO PHASE THEORY WITH DEFORMATION²⁸

a. Theory neglecting interfacial energy

I now consider a coherent two-phase elastic solid, neglecting interfacial energy, interfacial stress, and, as before, thermal and compositional variations. The body B is presumed independent of time, but the subregions $B_{\alpha}(t)$ and $B_{\beta}(t)$ occupied by α and β as well as the interface &(t) depend on t. Coherency requires that motions y of B be continuous across the interface, with deformation gradient F and material velocity y' continuous up to the interface from either side, a constraint that yields the compatibility conditions

$$[y^*] = -V[F]n,$$
 $[F]P = 0,$ (5.1)

with **n** the unit normal to & directed outward from B_{α} and V the normal velocity of &.

While inertia is easily included, I neglect it to simplify the presentation. The basic balance laws are as discussed in Section 3 for single-phase materials, but with the interface accounted for by internal configurational forces with density \mathbf{s} distributed over &. The deformational and configurational balances thus take the form

$$\int \mathbf{Sm} d\mathbf{a} = \mathbf{0}, \qquad \int \mathbf{y} \times \mathbf{Sm} d\mathbf{a} = \mathbf{0}, \qquad (5.2)$$

$$\partial \mathbf{R} \qquad \qquad \partial \mathbf{R}$$

$$\int \mathbf{Cm} d\mathbf{a} + \int \mathbf{f} d\mathbf{a} + \int \mathbf{g} d\mathbf{a} = \mathbf{0}, \qquad (5.3)$$

$$\partial \mathbf{R} \qquad \mathbf{R} \qquad \mathbf{G}$$

where R(t) is an arbitrary referential control volume with $Q(t)=\mathcal{S}(t)\cap R(t)$ the portion of the interface in R(t).

The local force-balances now consist of bulk equations and interface conditions; the bulk equations remain (3.9) (with b=0) and (3.24), while the interface conditions are

$$[S]n = 0,$$
 $[C]n + 0 = 0.$ (5.4)

The working still has the form (3.14) (with b=0); there is no contribution of **8**, as it acts internally. Restricting R(t) to not intersect the interface leads to the relation (3.16) for the configurational stress. Further, since interfacial energy is neglected, the second law takes the form (3.13) (granted variations in $\frac{28}{Gurtin} - (1993b, 1994a)$.

Sun, Apr 24, 1994

temperature and composition are negligible), and leads again to the bulk Eshelby relation (3.21).

To derive an expression for the second law at the interface, I restrict attention to time-independent control volumes that intersect the interface; granted this, (3.13) reduces to

But

Thus shrinking R to the interface yields the jump condition $[\Psi]V + [Sn \cdot y^{\cdot}] \ge 0$, so that, by (5.1) and the first of (5.4), $([\Psi] - [Fn \cdot Sn])V \ge 0$, or equivalently, using (3.21) and the second of (5.4),

 $eV \le 0, \tag{5.7}$

with $e = \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{n}$ the normal internal force.

I consider bulk constitutive equations for each phase of the form (3.25). (These are the most general constitutive equations—consistent with (5.5)—giving ψ and S as functions of F.) In addition, I consider a constitutive equation for the interface giving e as a function of V and a list z of fields such as n and the interfacial limits of F; the requirement that (5.7) hold in all motions then yields the reduced constitutive relation

$$e = -bV$$
, $b = b(z,V) \ge 0$, (5.8)

with b(z,V) a constitutive modulus.

The relations (3.21), (5.4), and (5.8) yield final interface conditions

$$[S]n = 0, n \cdot [\Psi 1 - F^{T}S]n = bV, (5.9)$$

which are replaced by

$$[\mathbf{S}]\mathbf{n} = -\rho[\mathbf{y}^*]\mathbf{V}, \qquad \mathbf{n} \cdot [\Psi \mathbf{1} - \mathbf{F}^* \mathbf{S}]\mathbf{n} = -\mathbf{k} + \mathbf{b}\mathbf{V}, \qquad (5.10)$$

when inertia is included. Here $\mathbf{k} = (\rho/2)[|\mathbf{Fn}|^2]V^2$.

The kinetic relation $(5.10)_2$ was derived by Truskinovsky [1987,1991] and

Abeyaratne and Knowles [1990,1991] on the basis of an argument that does not require the introduction of configurational forces. They note that the second law yields the inequality $([\Psi]-[Fn\cdot Sn]+\&)V \ge 0$, which they use to motivate a constitutive relation for the "driving traction" $f = -[\Psi]+[Fn\cdot Sn]-\&$ of the form f = -bV, $b\ge 0$. This argument is simpler than the one I have given, since it does not involve a configurational force balance, but I believe it to be unsound: & is a known function of F, n, and V, while Ψ and S are prescribed as functions of F through constitutive relations; therefore postulating an additional relation for $[\Psi] - [Fn\cdot Sn]+\&$ seems both superfluous and arbitrary. I know of no other example from continuum mechanics in which fields specified by constitutive relations are presumed related by yet another such relation.

b. Theory with interfacial energy and stress

I now generalize the theory of Section 5a to include interfacial structure, but I will merely sketch the analysis, as it is complicated. The inclusion of interfacial stress characterized by the superficial tensor fields

5	deformational surface stress
C	configurational surface stress

necessitates modification of (5.2) and (5.3) as follows: let \mathbf{V} denote the outward unit normal to $\partial \Omega$; then the terms

$$\int \mathbf{S} \mathbf{V} ds, \qquad \int \mathbf{y} \times \mathbf{S} \mathbf{V} ds, \qquad \int \mathbf{C} \mathbf{V} ds, \\ \partial \mathbf{G} \qquad \partial \mathbf{G} \qquad \partial \mathbf{G}$$

respectively, should be added to the left sides of the deformational force and moment balances and the left side of the configurational balance. This yields

$$[S]n + div_8 S = 0, SF^T = FS^T, [C]n + e + div_8 C = 0, (5.11)$$

with

$$\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{F}_{\alpha} \mathbf{P} = \mathbf{F}_{\beta} \mathbf{P} \tag{5.12}$$

the tangential deformation gradient (cf. $(5.1)_2$).

In addition to the bulk free-energy Ψ_{t} there is an interfacial free-energy ψ_{t} and the inequality representing the second law takes the form

for all R(t), where W(R) now includes working of the surface forces:

$$\mathfrak{W}(\mathbf{R}) = \int (\mathbf{Sm} \cdot \overline{\mathbf{v}} + \mathbf{Cm} \cdot \mathbf{v}) d\mathbf{a} + \int (\mathbf{C} \mathbf{V} \cdot \mathbf{w} + \mathbf{S} \mathbf{V} \cdot \overline{\mathbf{w}}) d\mathbf{s}.$$
(5.14)
 $\partial \mathbf{R} \qquad \partial \mathbf{G}$

Here v is a velocity field for ∂R with \overline{v} the corresponding induced velocity field for ∂R , while w is a velocity field for the curve $\partial G(t)$ with \overline{w} the corresponding induced velocity field for the deformed curve $y(\partial G(t),t)$; that is, w(X,t) is computed using time-dependent parametrizations (4.3) for $\partial G(t)$ and $\overline{w}=y^*+Fw$.

Invariance under reparametrization for $\partial R(t)$ then yields the Eshelby relation (3.21), while invariance under reparametrization for $\partial G(t)$ yields an Eshelby relation for the interface:

$$\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{tan}} = \mathbf{\psi} \mathbf{P} - \mathbf{F}^{\mathsf{T}} \mathbf{S}. \tag{5.15}$$

The resulting interfacial dissipation inequality, which generalizes (4.20), is

$$\psi^{\circ} + (\mathbf{C} + \mathbf{S}^{\mathsf{T}} \mathbf{E} \mathbf{n}) \cdot \mathbf{n}^{\circ} - \mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{E}^{\circ} + \mathbf{eV} \le 0, \qquad (5.16)$$

with **C** the configurational shear and **E** the average of the interfacial limits F_{α} and F_{α} of **F**:

$$\mathbf{C} = \mathbf{C}^{\mathsf{T}}\mathbf{n}, \qquad \mathbf{E} = \langle \mathbf{F} \rangle. \tag{5.17}$$

As constitutive equations for the interface I allow ψ , **S**, **C**, and *e* to depend on **n**, V, F_{α} , and F_{β} . A consequence of (5.16) is that ψ , **S**, and **C** are independent of V and depend on F_{α} and F_{β} through their average E. In fact, the energy $\psi = \hat{\psi}(E,n)$ determines **S** and **C** through the relations

$$\mathbf{S} = \partial_{\mathbf{F}} \hat{\psi}(\mathbf{E}, \mathbf{n}), \qquad \mathbf{C} + \mathbf{S}^{\mathsf{T}} \mathbf{E} \mathbf{n} = -\partial_{\mathbf{n}} \hat{\psi}(\mathbf{E}, \mathbf{n}), \qquad (5.18)$$

and

$$e = -bV,$$
 $b = b(F_{\alpha}, F_{\beta}, n, V) \ge 0.$ (5.19)

The final interface conditions consist of the compatibility condition (5.1) and the force balances

$$[S]n = -\operatorname{div}_{s} S, \qquad n \cdot [\Psi 1 - F^{\mathsf{T}} S]n + (\Psi P - F^{\mathsf{T}} S) \cdot L + \operatorname{div}_{s} C = bV \qquad (5.20)^{29}$$

supplemented by the constitutive equations (5.18) and (5.19) as well as those for the bulk material. Note that $(5.20)_2$, which represents the normal configurational force balance, may be written in the form

 $\mathbf{n} \cdot [\text{bulk Eshelby tensor}]\mathbf{n} + (\text{interfacial Eshelby tensor}) \cdot \mathbf{L} + \text{div}_{\mathcal{S}}\mathbf{C} = bV.$ (5.21)

 $^{^{29}}$ Gurtin and Struthers [1990], Gurtin [1993b,1994a]. See also Lusk [1992]. For statics (5.20)₁ was derived by Gurtin and Murdoch [1974] from a force balance, while (5.20)₂ was derived by Leo and Sekerka [1989] as an Euler-Lagrange equation for stable equilibria (cf. Alexander and Johnson [1985], Johnson and Alexander [1986], and Fonseca [1989]).

6. SOLIDIFICATION. THE STEFAN AND GIBBS-THOMPSON CONDITIONS AS CONSEQUENCES OF THE CONFIGURATIONAL FORCE BALANCE

To demonstrate the role of configurational forces in situations that are not purely mechanical, I turn now to two-phase heat flow, neglecting deformation. Paralleling (3.12), I write the first two laws for a control volume R(t) as

```
(d/dt){internal energy} = {heating} + {working},
(d/dt){internal entropy} ≥ {entropy flux induced by heating}
```

in which the right sides include an accounting of the work and *heat* required to add or remove material, but make no explicit mention of flows of internal energy and internal entropy across ∂R .

a. Single-phase theory

To the classical fields

3	internal energy
η	internal entropy
θ	absolute temperature
q	heat flux vector

I add three configurational fields

С	stress
f	internal force
Q	heating

where Q is a scalar field, while C and f are as discussed previously, and I define the free energy through

 $\Psi = \varepsilon - \Theta \eta. \tag{6.1}$

For R(t) an evolving control volume, with $\mathcal V$ the normal velocity of ∂R ,

∫QV da,	∫(Q/ə)Vda
ðR	∂R

represent flows of heat and entropy into R associated with the motion of ∂R .

The basic laws, for each evolving control volume R(t), are balance of energy

Sun, Apr 24, 1994

growth of entropy

and balance of configurational forces

$$\int \mathbf{Cm} \, d\mathbf{a} + \int \mathbf{f} \, d\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{0}, \tag{6.4}$$

$$\partial \mathbf{R} \qquad \mathbf{R}$$

with **m** the outward unit normal to ∂R , and with the stipulation that balance of energy be independent of the particular local parametrizations used to determine the velocity field v for ∂R . For R stationary (6.2) and (6.3) become

again demonstrating consistency with more standard ideas.

Arguing as before, invariance under changes in reparametrization for $\partial R(t)$ yields the conclusion that C is a pure tension π , as in (4.6); therefore, by (3.1) applied to ϵ in (6.2) and η in (6.3),

$$\varepsilon = \pi + Q, \qquad \eta = Q/\Theta,$$
 (6.6)

relations that, when multiplied by \mathcal{V} , express balance of energy and entropy associated with the addition of material to R. A trivial but important corollary of these relations is that, once again, bulk tension and bulk free-energy coincide: $\pi=\Psi$. Thus

$$\mathbf{C} = \Psi \mathbf{1}. \tag{6.7}$$

Finally, restricting attention to stationary control volumes, and using (6.1) and the energy balance to rewrite the entropy inequality yields the local relations

$$\varepsilon^* = -\operatorname{div} \mathbf{q},\tag{6.8}$$

 $\Psi' + \eta \Theta' + \Theta^{-1} \mathbf{q} \cdot \nabla \Theta \le 0. \tag{6.9}$

The standard constitutive equations consist of a relation between free energy and temperature, a relation giving the entropy as the negative of the derivative of the free energy with respect to temperature, and a Fourier law for heat conduction,

$$\Psi = \widehat{\Psi}(\Theta), \qquad \eta = -\widehat{\Psi}'(\Theta), \qquad \mathbf{q} = -\mathbf{K}(\Theta)\nabla\Theta, \qquad (6.10)^{30}$$

with $K(\theta)$, the conductivity tensor, assumed positive definite. Granted these, the dissipation inequality (6.9) is satisfied identically. By (6.1) and (6.10), there is an auxiliary relation for the internal energy,

$$\varepsilon = \hat{\Psi}(\Theta) - \Theta \hat{\Psi}'(\Theta). \tag{6.11}$$

The basic partial differential equation of the theory is given by balance of energy supplemented by $(6.10)_3$ and (6.11).

Note that, by the local form (3.24) of (6.4), (6.7), and (6.10),

$$\mathbf{f} = \mathbf{n} \nabla \boldsymbol{\vartheta}, \tag{6.12}$$

which I take as a defining relation for f.

b. The classical two-phase theory revisited. The Stefan condition as a consequence of the configurational balance

I now consider two phases, α and β , with $\Psi_{\alpha}(\theta)$ and $\Psi_{\beta}(\theta)$, and $K_{\alpha}(\theta)$ and $K_{\beta}(\theta)$ the corresponding free energies and conductivity tensors, and with resulting constitutive relations of the form (6.10). I assume further that there is a unique temperature, the *melting temperature* θ_{M} , at which the free energies of the individual phases coincide:

$$\Psi_{\alpha}(\Theta_{M}) = \Psi_{\beta}(\Theta_{M}). \tag{6.13}$$

I neglect interfacial structure, so that the basic laws remain (6.2)-(6.4). Further, I assume that the *temperature is continuous*, but allow the other fields to suffer jump discontinuities across the interface.

Balance of energy then yields the interfacial balance

 $^{^{30}}$ These are consequences of (7.9) in conjunction with constitutive equations giving Ψ , η , and \mathbf{q} as functions of θ and $\nabla \theta$ with \mathbf{q} linear in $\nabla \theta$.

$$[\varepsilon]V = [q] \cdot n, \tag{6.14}$$

which is the first of the classical interface conditions for the Stefan problem. Next, the configurational balance (6.4) yields

[C]n = 0, (6.15)

which, by (6.7), has the alternative form

$$[\Psi] = 0, \tag{6.16}$$

or, in view of the hypothesis ending in (6.13),

$$\theta = \theta_{\rm M}$$
 on the interface. (6.17)

Thus the classical Stefan condition equating the temperature at the interface to the melting temperature is equivalent to the configurational balance applied across the interface.³¹

c. Weak form of the two-phase problem using the configurational balance

Not only does the configurational balance allow for a derivation of the classical Stefan condition, it allows for a weak formulation of the Stefan problem by replacing the condition $\theta = \theta_M$ on the interface, which is local and inappropriate to a weak formulation, with a partial differential equation. In particular, (6.5) and the configurational balance divC = -f with C given by (6.7) and f by (6.12) yield partial differential equations

$$\varepsilon^* = -\operatorname{div} \mathbf{q}, \qquad \nabla \Psi = -\eta \nabla \Theta, \qquad \eta^* \ge -\operatorname{div} (\mathbf{q}/\Theta)$$
 (6.18)

to be interpreted in a weak sense, for example in the sense of distributions. The distributional form of $(6.18)_1$ gives that partial differential equation classically in bulk and the balance (6.14) at the interface. The configurational balance $(6.18)_2$ is satisfied automatically in bulk; its only contribution is at the interface, where $\nabla \Psi$ is a distribution, as Ψ suffers a jump discontinuity ($\eta \nabla \theta$ does not contribute, as η and $\nabla \theta$ are bounded). In fact, $(6.18)_2$ formally yields (6.16) and hence the Stefan condition (6.17). Finally, $(6.18)_3$ is satisfied automatically in bulk as well as across the interface. To verify the latter assertion, note that $(6.18)_3$ yields $\theta[\eta] V \leq [\mathbf{q}] \cdot \mathbf{n}$, or equivalently, by (6.1) and (6.14), $[\Psi] V \geq 0$, an inequality satisfied by virtue of $\frac{31}{Gurtin}$ [1988].

(6.16). It might therefore appear that the entropy inequality $(6.18)_3$ is superfluous, which is true when the interface moves smoothly, but there are situations involving large amounts of supercooling or superheating in which the interface moves "infinitely fast" resulting in an instantaneous change in phase for entire subregions of the body;³² the entropy inequality is then needed to ensure that such instantaneous changes be consistent with the second law.³³

d. The two-phase theory with surface structure. The Gibbs-Thompson condition as a consequence of the configurational balance.³⁴

I now generalize the theory to include surface structure by considering the basic laws for each evolving control volume R(t) in the form

$$(d/dt) \{ \int \eta dv + \int \overline{\eta} da \} \geq - \int (\mathbf{q}/\theta) \cdot \mathbf{m} da + \int (Q/\theta) \mathcal{V} da + \int (\overline{Q}/\theta) V_{\partial Q} ds, \quad (6.20) \\ R \qquad \partial R \qquad \partial R \qquad \partial Q$$

$$\int \mathbf{Cm} \, d\mathbf{a} + \int \mathbf{f} \, d\mathbf{a} + \int \mathbf{C} \, \mathbf{V} \, d\mathbf{s} + \int \mathbf{G} \, d\mathbf{a} = \mathbf{0}, \qquad (6.21)$$

$$\partial \mathbf{R} \qquad \mathbf{R} \qquad \partial \mathbf{G} \qquad \mathbf{G}$$

where W(R) is given by (4.5), **C**, **s**, and Q are as discussed before, $\overline{\epsilon}$ is the interfacial energy, $\overline{\eta}$ is the interfacial entropy, and \overline{Q} , a configurational heating, is an analog of Q in the sense that

represent flows of heat and entropy into G induced by the motion of the boundary curve ∂G .

The arguments used before then yield the bulk relations discussed in the paragraph containing (6.7), the interface relations

 $\overline{\eta} = Q/\theta, \qquad \sigma = \psi, \qquad (6.22)$

and the results (4.9) and (4.19) with the interfacial free-energy given by

30

³²Sherman [1970], Fasano and Primicerio [1977], Götz and Zaltsman [1993], Gurtin [1994b].

³⁴This section is taken from Gurtin [1988,1993], although the configurational force-balance is slightly different.

$$\psi = \overline{\varepsilon} - \Theta \overline{\eta}. \tag{6.23}$$

The configurational balance remains (4.11), but the remaining interface conditions are more complicated than before: balance of energy has the form

$$[\varepsilon]V = [q] \cdot \mathbf{n} + \overline{\varepsilon}^{\circ} - \overline{\varepsilon}KV - \operatorname{div}_{s}(V\mathbf{C})$$
(6.24)

(cf. (A13), (4.13), (6.6), (6.22), (6.23)), an analogous inequality for the entropy follows from (6.20), and this inequality, (4.11), and (6.24) yield the interfacial dissipation inequality

$$\psi^{\circ} + \bar{\eta} \Theta^{\circ} + \mathbf{C} \cdot \mathbf{n}^{\circ} + \mathbf{eV} \le 0. \tag{6.25}$$

Guided by this inequality, I consider constitutive equations of the form (4.21), but with (θ,n,V) as independent variables and with an additional constitutive equation, of the same form, for the entropy $\overline{\eta}$. The most general constitutive equations of this form consistent with the dissipation inequality (6.25) are

$$\psi = \hat{\psi}(\vartheta, \mathbf{n}), \quad \overline{\eta} = -\partial_{\vartheta}\hat{\psi}(\vartheta, \mathbf{n}), \quad \mathbf{c} = -\partial_{\mathbf{n}}\hat{\psi}(\vartheta, \mathbf{n}), \quad e = -b(\vartheta, \mathbf{n}, \nabla)\nabla, \quad (6.26)$$

with $b(\theta,n,V) \ge 0$. I henceforth assume that b is independent of V.

The resulting interface conditions consist of the energy balance (6.24) and the configurational balance (4.11) with $\pi=\Psi$, $\sigma=\psi$:

$$[\Psi] = -\psi \mathbf{K} - \operatorname{div}_{\mathbf{g}} \mathbf{C} - \mathbf{e}. \tag{6.27}$$

These interface conditions supplemented by the constitutive equations are the basic free-boundary conditions of the theory; the condition (6.27) replaces the classical Stefan condition.

The interface conditions (6.24) and (6.27) are complicated. In [1988] I formally derived an approximate theory appropriate to an interface whose free energy, internal energy, and kinetic coefficient are small, with the latter independent of V. Let

$$u = (\theta - \theta_M)/\theta_M, \qquad \ell = \varepsilon_{\beta}(\theta_M) - \varepsilon_{\alpha}(\theta_M), \qquad (6.28)$$

$$\psi_M(\mathbf{n}) = \hat{\psi}(\theta_M, \mathbf{n}), \qquad b_M(\mathbf{n}) = b(\theta_M, \mathbf{n}),$$

where $\varepsilon_{\alpha}(\theta)$ and $\varepsilon_{\beta}(\theta)$ are the constitutive functions for the internal energy

computed from the free energies $\Psi_{\alpha}(\theta)$ and $\Psi_{\beta}(\theta)$ via (6.11), so that ℓ is the latent heat. Then the approximate interface conditions consist of an energy balance

$$\ell V = [q] \cdot n \tag{6.29}$$

and a generalized Stefan condition

$$\ell u = \{ \psi_{M}(n)\mathbf{1} + \partial_{n}\partial_{n}\psi_{M}(n) \} \cdot \mathbf{L} - \mathbf{b}_{M}(n) \mathbf{V}, \qquad (6.30)$$

which includes the effects of curvature and kinetics. For an isotropic material ψ_M and b_M are constants, which I write as ψ and b, and (6.30) reduces to³⁵

$$\ell u = \psi K - bV, \tag{6.31}$$

which is the Gibbs-Thompson condition $lu=\psi K$ augmented by the term bV, which accounts for interface kinetics.

Acknowledgment. This work was supported by the Army Research Office and the National Science Foundation. I am deeply grateful to Paolo Podio-Guidugli for the many valuable discussions we have had concerning the material presented here; in particular, unpublished notes of his on variational descriptions of the Eshelby tensor were helpful to me in formulating the underlying ideas. I also acknowledge valuable discussions with Mete' Soner.

 $^{{}^{35}\}ell u = -b(n)V$ was introduced by Frank [1958] and used by Chernov [1963,1964]; $\ell u = \psi K$ was introduced by Mullins [1960] (in the context of mass transport) and used by Mullins and Sekerka [1963,1964]; $\ell u = \psi K$ -bV was used by Voronkov [1964]. Cf. Gurtin [1993a, Footnote 84] for additional references.

APPENDIX ON EVOLVING SURFACES

a. Surfaces

Let & be a smooth closed surface oriented by a choice of unit normal field n(X). The space $n(X)^{\perp}$ of all vectors perpendicular to n(X) is the tangent space to & at X, and the tensor

$$P(X) = 1 - n(X) \otimes n(X)$$
(A1)

projects vectors onto this tangent space.

In continuum mechanics tensors are generally linear transformations from \mathbb{R}^3 into itself, but of interest here are tensor fields \mathbb{T} on & with the property that, at each X in &, $\mathbb{T}(X)$ is a linear transformation from the tangent space at X into \mathbb{R}^3 . These two notions of a tensor field may be reconciled by extending $\mathbb{T}(X)$ to vectors normal to & with the requirement that $\mathbb{T}(X)$ annihilate such vectors. Precisely, a superficial tensor field \mathbb{T} on & is a function that associates with each X in & a linear transformation $\mathbb{T}(X)$ from \mathbb{R}^3 into \mathbb{R}^3 such that

$$Tn = 0. \tag{A2}$$

T then admits a unique decomposition into *tangential* and *normal components*, T_{tan} and l, respectively:

$$T = T_{tan} + n \otimes l, \qquad T_{tan} = PT, \quad l = T^{T}n; \qquad (A3)$$

given any vector field **v**,

$$\mathbf{T}\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{T}_{tan}\mathbf{v} + (\mathbf{i} \cdot \mathbf{v})\mathbf{n} \tag{A4}$$

with $T_{tan}v$ a tangential vector field on &. (Note that the *normal* component & of T is a *tangential vector field*.)

I define the surface gradient ∇_{δ} on δ through the chain rule. Let $\varphi(X)$ be a smooth scalar field on δ and $\mathbf{v}(X)$ a smooth vector field on δ . Then given any curve $\mathbf{z}(t)$ on δ ,

$$\varphi(z)^{*} = \nabla_{g} \varphi(z) \cdot z^{*}, \qquad \forall (z)^{*} = \nabla_{g} \forall (z) z^{*}$$
(A5)

(which defines $\nabla_{\delta} \mathbf{v}$ only on vectors tangent to δ , but, in accord with (A2), $\nabla_{\delta} \mathbf{v}$ is extended by requiring that $(\nabla_{\delta} \mathbf{v})\mathbf{n}=\mathbf{0}$). Then $\nabla_{\delta} \varphi$ is a tangential vector field, while

 $abla_{\delta} \mathbf{v}$ is a superficial tensor field. The surface divergence of \mathbf{v} is defined by

$$\operatorname{div}_{\mathcal{S}} \mathbf{v} = \operatorname{tr}(\nabla_{\mathcal{S}} \mathbf{v}), \tag{A6}$$

while the surface divergence $\operatorname{div}_{\mathscr{S}} T$ of a superficial tensor field is defined through the identity

$$\mathbf{a} \cdot \operatorname{div}_{\mathbf{\beta}} \mathbf{T} = \operatorname{div}_{\mathbf{\beta}}(\mathbf{T}^{\mathsf{T}} \mathbf{a}) \tag{A7}$$

for every constant vector **a**.

The curvature tensor L and total curvature K (twice the mean curvature) are defined by

$$\mathbf{L} = -\nabla_{\mathbf{g}} \mathbf{n}, \qquad \mathbf{K} = \mathrm{tr} \, \mathbf{L} = -\mathrm{div}_{\mathbf{g}} \mathbf{n}. \qquad (A8)$$

As is known, the curvature tensor is symmetric $L=L^{T}$ and (hence) tangential: $L^{T}n=0$.

Let G denote a smooth subsurface of &, and let $\mathbb{V}(X)$ denote the outward unit normal to the boundary curve ∂G , so that $\mathbb{V}(X)$ is *tangent* to & at each $X \in \partial G$. The surface divergence theorem then has the form

$$\int \mathbf{t} \cdot \mathbf{V} ds = \int div_{\mathcal{S}} \mathbf{t} da, \qquad \int \mathbf{T} \mathbf{V} ds = \int div_{\mathcal{S}} \mathbf{T} da \qquad (A9)$$

$$\partial \mathbf{G} \qquad \mathbf{G} \qquad \partial \mathbf{G} \qquad \mathbf{G}$$

for t a tangential vector field and T a superficial tensor field.

b. Smoothly evolving surfaces

Now let &(t) depend smoothly on the time t. Let φ° denote the *normal time*derivative³⁶ of a scalar, vector, or tensor field φ on &. Then

 $\mathbf{n}^{\circ} = -\nabla_{\mathcal{B}} \mathbf{V}, \tag{A10}$

with V the normal velocity of &.

Let $\Omega(t)$ denote a smoothly evolving subsurface of $\mathscr{S}(t)$ with $\mathscr{V}(\mathbf{x},t)$ the outward unit normal to $\partial \Omega(t)$. The motion of the curve $\partial \Omega(t)$ may be characterized intrinsically by the velocity field

1

³⁶The derivative following the normal trajectories of the surface. Cf. Gurtin [1986, eqt. (4.4)].

$$V\mathbf{n} + V_{\partial \Omega} \boldsymbol{\nu},$$
 (A11)

where $V_{\partial \Omega}$, the *tangential edge velocity* of Ω , is the velocity of $\partial \Omega$ in the direction of the normal Ψ .

For ϕ a superficial scalar field,

$$\begin{array}{ccc} (d/dt) \left\{ \int \varphi da \right\} & denotes & (d/dt) \left\{ \int \varphi(X,t) da(X) \right\}. \\ G & G(t) \end{array}$$
 (A12)

Then³⁷

c. Functions of orientation

In studying interface behavior I will discuss scalar functions $\varphi(n)$ and vector functions f(n) of the interface normal n. The derivatives $\partial_n \varphi(n)$ and $\partial_n f(n)$ are defined by the chain rule. Given any curve n(t) on the unit sphere,

$$\varphi(\mathbf{n})^* = \{\partial_{\mathbf{n}}\varphi(\mathbf{n})\} \cdot \mathbf{n}^*, \qquad \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{n})^* = \{\partial_{\mathbf{n}}\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{n})\}\mathbf{n}^*; \qquad (A14)$$

 $\partial_n \varphi(n)$ is tangent to the unit sphere, while $\partial_n f(n)$ is defined by (A14) only on vectors perpendicular to n, but is extended by requiring that $\{\partial_n f(n)\}n=0$). Then for n the unit normal field on &, a calculation using the chain-rule and (A8) yields the identities

$$\nabla_{\mathfrak{z}} \varphi(\mathbf{n}) = -\mathbf{L} \partial_{\mathbf{n}} \varphi(\mathbf{n}), \quad \nabla_{\mathfrak{z}} \mathfrak{f}(\mathbf{n}) = -\{\partial_{\mathbf{n}} \mathfrak{f}(\mathbf{n})\} \mathbf{L}, \quad \operatorname{div}_{\mathfrak{z}} \mathfrak{f}(\mathbf{n}) = -\{\partial_{\mathbf{n}} \mathfrak{f}(\mathbf{n})\} \mathbf{L}.$$
(A15)

³⁷Cf. Petryk and Mroz [1986], Gurtin, Struthers, and Williams [1989], Estrada and Kanwal [1991], Jaric [1991].

REFERENCES

- [1878] Gibbs, J. W., On the equilibrium of hetrogeneous substances, Trans. Connecticut Acad. 3, 108-248. Reprinted in: The Scientific Papers of J. Willard Gibbs, vol. 1, Dover, New York (1961)
- [1892] Burton, C. V., A theory concerning the constitution of matter, Phil. Mag. (Series 5) 33, 191-203
- [1951] Eshelby, J. D., The force on an elastic singularity, Phil. Trans. A244, 87-112
- [1951] Herring, C., Surface tension as a motivation for sintering, *The Physics of Powder Metallurgy* (ed. W. E. Kingston) McGraw-Hill, New York
- [1952] Burke, J. E. and D. Turnbull, Recrystallization and grain growth, Progress in Metal Physics 3, 220-292
- [1956] Mullins, W. W., Two-dimensional motion of idealized grain boundaries, J. Appl. Phys., 27, 900-904
- [1958] Frank, F. C., On the kinematic theory of crystal growth and dissolution processes, Growth and Perfection of Crystals (eds. R. H. Doremus, B. W. Roberts, D. Turnbull) John Wiley, New York
- [1960] Mullins, W. W., Grain boundary grooving by volume diffusion, Trans. Met. Soc. AIME, 218, 354-361
- [1963] Chernov, A. A., Crystal growth forms and their kinetic stability [in Russian], Kristallografiya 8, 87-93 (1963). English Transl. Sov. Phys. Crystall. 8, 63-67 (1963)
- [1963] Coleman, B. D. & W. Noll, The thermodynamics of elastic materials with heat conduction and viscosity, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. **13**, 167–178
- [1963] Mullins, W. W. & R. F. Sekerka, Morphological stability of a particle growing by diffusion or heat flow, J. Appl. Phys. 34, 323-329
- [1964] Chernov, A. A., Application of the method of characteristics to the theory of the growth forms of crystals [in Russian], Kristallografiya 8, 499-505.
 English Transl. Sov. Phys. Crystall. 8, 401-405 (1964)
- [1964] Mullins, W. W. & R. F. Sekerka, Stability of a planar interface during solidification of a dilute binary alloy, J. Appl. Phys. 35, 444-451
- [1964] Voronkov, V. V., Conditions for formation of mosaic structure on a crystallization front [in Russian], Fizika Tverdogo Tela 6, 2984-2988.
 English Transl. Sov. Phys. Solid State 6, 2378-2381 (1965)
- [1965] Truesdell, C. A., & W. Noll, The non-linear field theories of mechanics, Handbuch der Physik, III/3 (ed. S. Flugge), Springer Verlag, Berlin
- [1966] Truesdell, C. A., Method and taste in natural philosophy, Six Lectures on Modern Natural Philosophy, Springer Verlag, New York
- [1970] Eshelby, J. D., Energy relations and the energy-momentum tensor in continuum mechanics, *Inelastic Behavior of Solids* (ed. M. Kanninen, W. Adler, A. Rosenfield, and R. Jaffee), 77-115, Mcgraw-Hill, New York
- [1970] Sherman, B., A general one-phase Stefan problem, Quart. Appl. Math. 28, 377-382 (1970)

۰.

- [1972] Hoffman, D. W. & J. W. Cahn, A vector thermodynamics for anisotropic surfaces. 1. Fundamentals and applications to plane surface junctions,
 Surface Sci. 31, 368-388
- [1974] Cahn, J. W. & D. W. Hoffman, A vector thermodynamics for anisotropic surfaces. 2. Curved and faceted surfaces, Act. Metall. 22, 1205-1214
- [1974] Gurtin, M. E. & I. Murdoch, A continuum theory of elastic material surfaces, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 57, 291–323
- [1974] Robin, P.-Y. F., Thermodynamic equilibrium across a coherent interface in a stressed crystal, Am. Min. 59, 1286–1298
- [1977] Fasano A. & M. Primicerio, General free boundary problems for the heat equation, J. Math. Anal. Appl., Part 1, 57, 694-723; Part 2, 58, 202-231; Part 3, 59, 1-14 (1977)
- [1978] Larché, F. C. & J. W. Cahn, Thermochemical equilibrium of multiphase solids under stress, Act. Metall. 26, 1579–1589
- [1980] Cahn, J. W., Surface stress and the chemical equilibrium of small crystals.1. The case of the isotropic surface, Act. Metall. 28, 1333–1338
- [1981] Grinfel'd, M. A., On hetrogeneous equilibrium of nonlinear elastic phases
- [1981] Gurtin, M. E., An Introduction to Continuum Mechanics, Academic Press, New York
 and chemical potential tensors, Lett. Appl. Engng. Sci. 19, 1031–1039
- [1981] James, R., Finite deformation by mechanical twinning, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 77, 143–176
- [1983] Gurtin, M. E., Two-phase deformations of elastic solids, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 84, 1–29
- [1985] Alexander, J. I. D. & W. C. Johnson, Thermomechanical equilibrium in solidfluid systems with curved interfaces, J. Appl. Phys. 58, 816-824
- [1986] Gurtin, M. E., On the two-phase Stefan problem with interfacial energy and entropy, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. **96**, 199–241
- [1986] Johnson W. C. & J. I. D. Alexander, Interfacial conditions for thermomechanical equilibrium in two-phase crystals, J. Appl. Phys. **59**, 2735-2746
- [1986] Petryk, H. & Z. Mroz, Time derivatives of integrals and functionals defined on varying volume and surface domains, Arch. Mech. **38**, 697–724
- [1987] Truskinovsky, L., Dynamics of nonequilibrium phase boundaries in a heat conducting nonlinear elastic medium, J. Appl. Math. Mech. (PMM), 51, 777-784
- [1987] Uwaha, M., Asymptotic growth shapes developed from two-dimensional nuclei, J. Crystal Growth 80, 84-90
- [1988] Gurtin, M. E., Multiphase thermomechanics with interfacial structure. 1.
 Heat conduction and the capillary balance law, Arch. Rational Mech.
 Anal., 104, 185-221
- [1988] Kaganova, I. M. & A. L. Roitburd, Equilibrium between elasticallyinteracting phases [in Russian], Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 94, 156-173. English Transl. Sov. Phys. JETP 67, 1173-1183 (1988)

- [1989] Angenent, S. & M. E. Gurtin, Multiphase thermomechanics with interfacial structure. 2. Evolution of an isothermal interface. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 108, 323-391
- [1989] Fonseca, I., Interfacial energy and the Maxwell rule, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 106, 63-95
- [1989] Gurtin, M. E., A. Struthers, & W. O. Williams, A transport theorem for moving interfaces, Quart. Appl. Math., 47, 773-777
- [1989] Leo, P. H. & R. F. Sekerka, The effect of surface stress on crystal-melt and crystal-crystal equilibrium, Act. Metall. **37**, 3119-3138
- [1989] Nozieres, P., Shape and Growth of Crystals, Notes of lectures given at the Beg-Rohu summer school
- [1990] Abeyaratne, R. & J. K. Knowles, On the driving traction acting on a surface of strain discontinuity in a continuum, J. Mech. Phys. Solids, **38**, 345-360
- [1990] Gurtin, M. E. & A. Struthers, Multiphase thermomechanics with interfacial structure. 3. Evolving phase boundaries in the presence of bulk deformation, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 112, 97–160
- [1991] Abeyaratne, R. & J. K. Knowles, Kinetic relations and the propagation of phase boundaries in elastic solids, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 114, 119-154
- [1991] Angenent, S. B., Parabolic equations for curves on surfaces, Ann. Math. (2)
 132, 451-483 (1990); 133, 171-215
- [1991] Chen, Y.-G., Y. Giga, & S. Goto, Uniqueness and existence of viscosity solutions of generalized mean curvature flow equations, J. Diff. Geom. 33, 749-786
- [1991] Estrada, R. & R. P. Kanwal, Non-classical derivation of the transport theorems for wave fronts, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 159, 290-297
- [1991] Gurtin, M. E., On thermodynamical laws for the motion of a phase interface, Zeit. angew. Math. Phys., **42**, 370–388
- [1991] Jaric, J. P., On a transport theorem for moving interfaces, Preprint
- [1992] Lusk, M., Martensitic phase transitions with surface effects, Tech. Rept. 8, Div. Eng. Appl. Sci., Caltech
- [1991] Truskinovsky, L., Kinks versus shocks, in Shock Induced Transitions and Phase Structures in General Media (ed. R. Fosdick, E. Dunn, and M. Slemrod), Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1991)
- [1992] Taylor, J., Mean curvature and weighted mean curvature, Act. Metall. 40, 1475-1485
- [1992] Taylor, J., J. W. Cahn, & C. A. Hankwerker, Geometric models of crystal growth, Act. Metall. 40, 1443-1474
- [1993] Götz, I. G. & B. Zaltzman, Two-phase Stefan with supercooling, Preprint
- [1993a]Gurtin, M. E., Thermomechanics of Evolving Phase Boundaries in the Plane, Oxford University Press, Oxford
- [1993b]Gurtin, M. E., The dynamics of solid-solid phase transitions. 1. Coherent interfaces, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., **123**, 305–335
- [1993] Soner, H. M., Motion of a set by the curvature of its boundary, J. Diff. Eqts.

Sat, Apr 23, 1994

101, 313-372

- [1994] Cermelli, P. and M. E. Gurtin, The dynamics of solid-solid phase transitions.2. Incoherent interfaces, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., Forthcoming
- [1994a]Gurtin, M. E., The characterization of configurational forces, Addendum to Gurtin [1993b], Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., Forthcoming
- [1994b]Gurtin, M. E., Thermodynamics and the supercritical Stefan equations with nucleations, Quart. Appl. Math., Forthcoming

Figure 1. The portion Q of the interface contained in the control volume R; m is the outward unit normal to ∂R ; n is the unit normal to the interface; ν (tangent to the interface) is the outward unit normal to the boundary curve ∂Q .



Figure 2. The regions B_{α} and B_{β} occupied by the phases α and β in the undeformed body.



•





Deformed Body

Figure 3. The time-dependent control volume R(t), which deforms to $\Re(t)$, with $\upsilon(X,t)$ a velocity field for $\partial R(t)$ and $\overline{\upsilon}(X,t)$ a corresponding velocity field for $\partial \Re(t)$.



Undeformed Body



Deformed Body

Figure 4. Cartoon showing why internal configurational forces respond to the inhomogeniety of the reference configuration.



9 4 •



1 / -

4

Figure 5. Contributions to the working at a phase interface.

ł

MAR 0 1 2004

.

.

.

•

